UNITED
NATIONS C R C

\‘:\\ﬁ/ Convention on the D ERAL
72  Rights of the Child CRC/ O SR 488

14 April 1999

ENGLI SH
Original: FRENCH

COW TTEE ON THE RI GHTS OF THE CHI LD
Ni net eent h sessi on
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 488t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Monday, 28 September 1998, at 3 p.m

Chai rperson: M ss MASON

CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (conti nued)

Initial report of Kuwait (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submtted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the O ficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Pal ais des Nations, Ceneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public neetings of the Conmittee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendum to be issued
shortly after the end of the session

GE. 98-18482 (E)



CRC/ C/ SR. 488
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 3.05 p.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS OF STATES PARTI ES (agenda item 4) (continued)

Initial report of Kuwait (CRC/C/ 8/ Add.35; list of issues CRC/ Q 1/ KUW 1,
witten replies of the CGovernnent of Kuwait to the questions raised in the
list of issues (docunment in Arabic only with no synbol); country analysis
(CRC/C A/KUW 1)) (continued)

At the invitation of the Chairperson, the nenbers of the del eqgation of
Kuwait resuned their places at the Comrmittee table.

1. The CHAI RPERSON i nvited the menbers of the Conmittee to continue their
di scussion of the definition of the child (article 1 of the Convention) and of
general principles (articles 2, 3, 6 and 12).

2. Ms. MXHUANE asked why the m nimum age for marriage was different for
girls and boys. Noting that, for the purposes of enploynment in the private
sector, a “juvenile” nmeant anyone over 14 and under 18 years of age, she

i nqui red how that provision was enforced. She considered that the age of
crimnal liability was too | ow since, at seven years of age, children had
barely begun to develop the noral and psychol ogi cal sense which rmade it
possible for themto be genuinely responsible. Turning to the matter of
non-di scri m nati on, she asked whether wonen had the right to vote and to be
el ected to the National Assenbly, if children born out of wedl ock were

di scrim nated agai nst, what was the status of foreign workers, and how their
recrui tment was controll ed.

3. M. KOOSOV said that he was pleased to |earn that, according to the
answers provided by the del egation, the Government of Kuwait took pains
effectively to protect the rights of children. Recalling that Kuwait had
become a party to the Convention on the Elimnation of Al Fornms of

Di scrim nati on agai nst Worren in 1994, he asked whet her Kuwait had entered any
reservations to that instrument and how it was applied. He urged the
Government of Kuwait to consider becom ng a party to the Convention relating
to the Status of Refugees, the Convention relating to the Status of Stateless
Persons, the Convention on the Reduction of Statel essness, the Internationa
Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Mgrant Wrkers and Menbers
of Their Families, and the Convention on Prohibition of the Use, Stockpiling,
Producti on and Transfer of Anti-personnel Mnes and their Destruction

Lastly, he would like to know if there were any special |aws on the |ega
status of foreigners and statel ess persons.

4, Ms. PALME said that she was concerned about the marriage age for girls,
pointing out that early marriage could be harnful to their health. She

i nqui red whether training in reproductive health and sex educati on was

of fered, and whether special efforts were made to reach young people in the

i sol ated regions.

5. Ms. OUEDRAOGO said that paragraph 13 of the initial report of Kuwait

i ndi cated that, according to the legislative texts, a child was defined as a
person between the ages of 7 and 18. She wondered how children between birth
and the age of seven were taken into account and feared that there might be a




CRC/ C/ SR. 488
page 3

| egal vacuumin that respect. Had any provisions been adopted to punish

viol ations of the anti-discrimnation |laws? She would also |ike to know nore
about the status of children born out of wedlock, in both |egal and socia
terms. Recalling that the Committee on the Elimnation of Racia

Di scrimnati on had reconmrended that Kuwait should ensure that victins of

di scrimnation had recourse to the courts, she inquired what had been done in
that area, particularly with regard to workers. Stressing the fundanenta
nature of the principle of respect for the views of the child, she asked what
steps had been taken to ensure that the child would be treated as a subject of
| aw under all circunmstances: wthin the famly, at school, and during |ega
proceedings. It was inportant for a child to participate in the making of al
deci sions that concerned him

6. Ms. MBA urged the Governnent of Kuwait to consider raising the

marri age age certainly for girls but also for boys. It was admttedly
traditional in Muslimcountries that girls should marry as soon as they
reached puberty; it should neverthel ess be enphasi zed that the physical and
psychol ogi cal devel opnent of girls did not end with puberty, and that early
pregnanci es ran the risk of putting an early end to childhood, with all the
attendant consequences. Turning to the matter of non-discrimnation, she said
she woul d like further information on the situation of girls enployed in
donestic service, and on non-Miuslimchildren, in terms of both |aw and, nore
particularly, practice.

7. Ms. KARP said, with regard to the provisions permtting a judge to hear
testimony froma child aged 14 or nore, that Kuwait should consider |owering
that age, since a child should have the right to give his views in al
proceedi ngs that concerned him |In cases of sexual violence, for instance, it
was very inmportant that a child should be able to speak freely and be heard as
soon as possible. There also seened to be a di screpancy between the end of
conpul sory education, at the age of 10, and the |egal working age, which

was 14. That problem m ght be rectified by extending compul sory schooling to
the age of 14.

8. In her view, seven was far too young an age for crimnal liability.
Involving a child of seven in a crimnal trial could have a destructive inpact
on his personality, whatever the protective nmeasures adopted. The marri age
age was also too | ow and was not in keeping with the spirit of the Convention
whi ch sought above all to pronote the child' s devel opnment and ensure respect
for his human dignity. Early marriage seenmed to be particularly comon in the
Bedoon community; the Governnent shoul d, perhaps, make an attenpt to educate
and rai se the consciousness of that section of the population. She would al so
like to have sone informati on on the age of consent to sexual relations and,
in particular, on what constituted consent in the case of mnors under the age
of 16. Was the view held that, above a certain age, a child had the ability
to refuse sexual relations and that under that age he was nore vulnerable to
pressure? \What penalties were provided for persons who perpetrated sexua

acts against mnors in one or other of those cases?

9. Turning to the matter of non-discrimnation, she inquired whether it was
true that giving instruction in any religion other than Islam was prohibited
in the schools. Furthernore, it appeared that children born of Kuwait

nmot hers and foreign fathers did not have the right to Kuwaiti nationality,



CRC/ C/ SR. 488
page 4

whereas children born of non-Kuwaiti nothers and Kuwaiti fathers did, and that
constituted discrimnation. The systemof jus sanguinis should be broadened
to allow a Kuwaiti nother to transmit her nationality to her child. 1t would
be useful to know whether a child' s views were taken into account in divorce
proceedi ngs, as well as in those involving his placement with a guardian or in
an institution. How were the best interests of the child established under
the law? How were they taken into account by the courts? She would also Iike
to know whether a child' s right to privacy was protected, especially in the
schools. Had any research been done into corporal punishment in the honme?

Was that type of punishnment expressly forbidden in schools and social welfare
institutions? In view of the fact that wonen | acked the right to vote and to
be elected to public office, the question arose how the country intended to
educate its children, and particularly its girls, in matters of socia

partici pation, when the basic building blocks of public participation had not
been laid. Did a systemexist by which children taught other children, with a
view to cultivating a sense of autonomy?

10. M. RABAH asked whether Kuwaiti law in fact protected the rights of a

child under the law, in school, in the famly, and in other institutions.
He woul d also like to know the m nimum age for enlistment in the arny in the
event of armed conflict. It would |ikew se be useful to know what

adm ni strative departments were responsible for birth registration, what
procedures they enployed, and whether the children of foreigners |iving and
working in Kuwait were subject to discrimnation. Furthernore, did the
Government exercise any control over work by children? Had it considered

of fering professional training to such children or taking nmeasures to prevent
themfromfalling into delinquency? He would also Iike further information
concerning the 25,000 children in the care of the State. Finally, could
children express thenselves freely in school and at honme? Could they | odge
conplaints in the case of ill-treatment? Wat nmeasures were envi saged in that
regard?

11. Ms. MXHUANE said that certain sources had indicated that the State was
enpowered to censure activities of a religious nature that were not associated
with Islam \What was actually the case, seeing that the report stated that
freedom of the press was guaranteed and that religious discrimnation did not
exist in Kuwait? Furthernore, it seenmed that the Bedoon conmmunity and

Pal estinian children did not have the right to Kuwaiti nationality and thus
did not enjoy the sane rights as Kuwaiti citizens; and that the illiteracy
rate was hi gher anmong women than anong nen. Further information on those

subj ects woul d be wel cone.

12. Ms. SARDENBERG having endorsed the comments by Ms. Karp, said she
woul d i ke to know whet her the portion of the budget allocated for children
had i ncreased or decreased. Like Ms. Quedraogo, she felt that it would be
useful to conpile all the legal texts concerning children into a children's
code, which would facilitate the coordination and inplenmentation of the

rel evant provisions. Noting that the Kuwaiti Constitution was not entirely
conpatible with the terns of the Convention, especially article 2,

she recommended that the Government review its interpretation of

non-di scrim nation. She would also |ike nore information on the situation of
wonen and girls, and on any programres designed on their behalf. For

i nstance, she wi shed to know whether it was true that preference was given to




CRC/ C/ SR. 488
page 5

mal e children and that female children were discrimnated against in school
whet her the Government was carrying out an awareness canpaign to pronote
equal ity between the sexes and whether Kuwait had participated in the Beijing
Conf er ence.

The neeting was suspended at 3.55 p.m and resuned at 4.10 p. m

13. M. RAZZOOO (Kuwait) said that, when Kuwait had ratified the Convention
on the Rights of the Child, the Governnent had offered its interpretation of
articles 7 and 21 but had not entered any reservations to any of the

provi sions contained therein. Replying to a question asked by M. Rabah, he
said that the 25,000 children in question were legitimte children who had
recei ved inheritances on the deaths of their fathers, but who had not yet
attained the age of majority. A public authority managed their fortunes,
which were transferred to them when they came of age.

14. Turning to the question of wonen, he said that Kuwait had participated
in the Beijing Conference and that women were represented at all levels of the
admi ni stration and earned the sanme salaries as men. Although it was true that
the Constitution did not accord themthe right to vote, that topic was being
debated in Parliament, which was expected to abolish that discrimnatory
customin due course. As for the definition of the child, he wi shed to dispe
any m sunderstanding that might arise froma reading of paragraph 13 of the
report: a “child” neant an individual frombirth to the age of 18. It was
merely a matter of tinme before Kuwait becane a party to other internationa

i nstruments; the Governnment preferred first to study the conpatibility of
certain provisions with donestic |aw.

15. Ms. Mina AL-SALLAL (Kuwait), turning to the matter of education, said
that school progranmes were designed to foster aptitude in children, who
participated in discussions on, inter alia, the devel opnent of progranmes that
concerned them At the university level, students were consulted with regard
to their courses of study. School and university open days, when parents,
teachers, directors of educational institutions and pupils or students m ngl ed
freely, also favoured di al ogue. Her Government devoted a great deal of effort
to teaching the principles of denocracy and to encouragi ng the free expression
of individual views.

16. In addition, a followup card was kept for each pupil enrolled in a
school managed by the Mnistry of Education. The card nmade it possible to

i dentify problens encountered by the pupils, and to consult parents where
necessary. The Mnistry of Education had also formul ated a teaching strategy
up to the year 2025, whose mmin aspects were high-quality teaching and the
protection of the rights of the child, in conformty with the principles set
out in the Convention. Furthernore, under Act No. 11 of 1965 on compul sory
schooling, primary educati on was conpul sory and free up to the age of 14, and

secondary education up to the age of 16. The illiteracy rate was neverthel ess
still high, despite a slight decline in recent years, and her Governnment had
| aunched a canpaign to elimnate illiteracy by the year 2000. Accordingly,

and in order to ensure that all children Iiving on Kuwaiti soil received an
education, the Government had authorized the establishnment of schools in al
Arab and non-Arab communities. There were 137 private Arab schools, which
used the same curricula as the Government schools, and 154 foreign schools,



CRC/ C/ SR. 488
page 6

whi ch enpl oyed a variety of teaching programmes. There were also paralle
teaching institutions that addressed matters related to wonen and children and
their rights (such as, for exanple, the specialized Centre for Mthers and
Chi l dren).

17. Ms. Nawal AL-SALLAL (Kuwait) said there was an agency whi ch was
responsi bl e for licensing day-care centres, having first ensured that they met
the requisite security standards. Every effort was |ikew se made to ensure
that children would not be the victins of discrimnation or intolerance.

M ni sterial Odinance No. 73 of 1994 addressed the security of children in
private day-care centres. There were also children's clubs for boys between
the ages of 4 and 10 and girls up to the age of 14, which provided a range of
activities ainmed at encouragi ng self-expression. Kuwait actively supported
all international initiatives to protect children against any and every form
of ill-treatnment. It had, consequently, becone a party to the Internationa
Covenant on Economc, Social and Cultural Rights, the International Covenant
on Civil and Political Rights, the Charter on Arab Children's Rights and the
Convention for the Suppression of the Traffic in Persons and of the
Exploitation of the Prostitution of OGthers. The traffic in children and the
sexual exploitation of children were crines punishable by national |aw

18. M. RAZZOOO (Kuwait) said that, in Kuwait, mlitary service was
obligatory for all 18-year-old males. Wth regard to the various committees
responsi bl e for human rights matters, although each committee was independent,
their progranmes were to sone extent coordi nated. Those conmittees were:

the Parliamentary Committee for the Defence of Human Ri ghts, the Education
Committee and the Committee on Human Ri ghts (which was enpowered to receive
conpl aints, including those fromchildren).

19. M. AL-JAFIN (Kuwait) confirmed that the mnimum age for marri age
continued to be 15 for girls and 17 for boys. A study carried out in 1997 had
reveal ed that the maternal nortality rate had significantly dropped, and stood
at 7 per 100,000 in 1996. According to the Kuwaiti Nationality Act, a child's
nati onality depended on that of the father. |If, however, there were a divorce
and the father left the country, the child retained his Kuwaiti nationality.
There were 12,000 stateless children in Kuwait, nost of whom canme from

nei ghbouring countries. They were often children whose parents had conceal ed
their passports for the purpose of obtaining Kuwaiti citizenship for them

It was worth pointing out, however, that Kuwait had perfected its birth

regi stration system and had a computerized centre for the purpose. Each
child received a birth certificate and an identity card. He then received the
necessary vacci nations until the age of four and a half, when he entered the
school system

20. Kuwai ti | egislation regarding the crimnal liability of mnors had been
established in 1983 and was still in force. According to that |egislation
chil dren under the age of seven were not considered crimnally |iable,

what ever the circunmstances of the offence; but their parents or guardians

m ght be required to answer for unlawful acts commtted by them Children
between the ages of 7 and 15 were considered crimnally responsible to the
extent that they were deenmed capabl e of discretion, but were liable only to
rehabilitation or re-education measures. Young of fenders between the ages of
15 and 18 coul d be subject to penal sanctions or to rehabilitation measures,



CRC/ C/ SR. 488
page 7

depending on the gravity of the offence committed and at the discretion of the
juvenile judge. The Kuwaiti courts could, in any circunstances, invoke the
provi sions of the Convention, which had been an integral part of Kuwait
domestic legislation since its ratification in 1991. Even before 1991
however, nost of the rights and principles set forth in the Convention had
been enforceabl e under Kuwaiti |ocal and national |egislation, which upheld
the right of all persons to a fair trial

21. M. AL-JAFIN (Kuwait) said that, under Kuwaiti |aw, any person aged 14
and over could give evidence on oath before the courts. The testinony of
children under the age of 14 could, neverthel ess, be used to corroborate facts
bei ng exam ned by the courts.

22. The Human Rights Unit of the Mnistry of Justice, established by

M ni sterial Odinance No. 15 of 1995, was nmade up of two main branches. The
first branch received reports and comuni cati ons concerning all egati ons of
human rights violations frominternational governnental and non-governnenta
organi zati ons and | ocal organizations, and cooperated with all human rights
organi zations at the national and global levels in an effort to coordinate
human rights policy. The second branch issued its views on the inplenmentation
of : international human rights instruments to which Kuwait was a party; the
resolutions of international human rights bodies; and the relevant | aws and
regul ations in force in Kuwait. The Convention on the Rights of the Child was
thus nonitored like all the other international instruments that Kuwait had
ratified. Lastly, it was worth noting that racial discrimnation was

puni shabl e under Kuwaiti |aw, which had incorporated the terns of the
Convention on the Prevention and Puni shment of the Crine of Genocide, which
the country had ratified.

23. The CHAI RPERSON invited the menmbers of the Committee to ask questions
regardi ng paragraphs 22 to 30 of the list of issues.

24, Ms. SARDENBERG said she had taken note of the positive devel opnents
menti oned by the delegation, particularly with regard to the exercise by wonmen
of their civil and political rights. She neverthel ess wondered about the

di sparities that apparently still existed between the rural and urban areas,
with regard to the exercise of rights set forth in the Conventi on,
particularly in respect of education. She also wondered why Kuwait maintained
the reservation it had entered concerning article 21 of the Convention, since
article 20 expressly addressed the situation of those countries that did not
recogni ze the principle of adoption. Lastly, she would like further
informati on on the situation of the Bedoon community in Kuwait, including its
living conditions and the access of its nmenbers to education

25. Ms. KARP asked whet her the del egation was able to furnish concrete
exanpl es of cases in which the provisions of the Convention had been invoked
by judges or | awers before the Kuwaiti courts. What was the status of the
noverment to grant wonen the right to vote?

26. Recal ling the basic principle of the Convention that the child was
hi nsel f a subject of rights, she asked whether the CGovernnent of Kuwait
i ntended to enact legislation making it possible for the views of a child to



CRC/ C/ SR. 488
page 8

be heard by an independent conmpetent body if he considered his rights to have
been violated. Did the Governnment plan to prohibit corporal punishment in
both school s and the hone?

27. Turning to the matter of non-discrimnation, she inquired whether it was
true that non-Kuwaitis were not entitled to free health care, and that their
children were not permtted to attend public schools. Since 1993, increasing
nunbers of non-Kuwaitis had been dism ssed fromtheir jobs or expelled from
the country by administrative order; she therefore wondered about the plight
of their children. Wiy were nore and nore children of non-nationals com ng
into conflict with the law? Could it be the result of their precarious |iving
condi tions?

28. The CHAI RPERSON said that the Commttee would take up the matter of
speci al protection nmeasures at its next nmeeting.

The neeting rose at 6 p. m




